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 This is a wrongful termination action.  Plaintiff Jennifer 

Scott was employed by defendant Phoenix Schools, Inc. (Phoenix) 

as the director of its Rocklin, California preschool.  She had 

the responsibility of assigning personnel to comply with the 
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state regulations that set the minimum teacher-student ratios 

for child care centers.  (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 22, §§ 101216.3, 

101416.5, and 101516.5.)  

 Phoenix terminated Scott in August 2006, shortly after she 

informed the parents of a prospective student that the school 

had no room for their child.  Scott sued Phoenix, alleging her 

termination violated the public policy embodied in the state 

regulations.  She alleged she was terminated for refusing to 

violate the staffing ratio regulations, the implication being 

that the admission of the extra child would have resulted in a 

regulatory violation.  After a jury trial, judgment was entered 

in favor of Scott, awarding her $1,108,247.00 in compensatory 

and $750,000.00 in punitive damages.   

 Phoenix argues there was insufficient evidence to sustain 

the jury‟s finding that it violated public policy when it 

terminated Scott, that the trial court erred in refusing to set 

aside the punitive damages award, that prejudicial evidentiary 

rulings compromised the fairness of the trial, and that the 

compensatory damage award was excessive and unsupported by the 

evidence.   

 In the published part of the opinion1 we shall conclude 

there was substantial evidence that Phoenix violated public 

policy in dismissing Scott but there was insufficient evidence 

of malice or oppression to sustain the award of punitive damages 

                     

1    The Reporter of Decisions is directed to publish the opinion 

except for Parts III and IV of the Discussion.    
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and shall reverse the punitive damage award on that ground.  We 

shall affirm the remainder of the judgment. 

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

 On July 31, 2006, Juanita McMaster arrived at Phoenix‟s 

Rocklin preschool campus to visit the school in anticipation of 

sending her child to preschool.  McMaster did not have an 

appointment, and Scott was outside at the time supervising 

children.  Scott gave McMaster an abbreviated tour because she 

needed to be outside to comply with the required student-teacher 

ratio.  Scott estimated she spent 10 to 15 minutes with Juanita 

McMaster.  Scott told McMaster there was currently no space for 

her child, but that there would be space available in a couple 

of weeks, and put her daughter‟s name on a waiting list.   

 Juanita McMaster came back to the Rocklin school with her 

husband a couple of days later.  This time, they were shown 

around by Suzie Aguirre, who was part of the school‟s 

administrative staff.  In contrast to the information Scott had 

given Mrs. McMaster two days earlier, Aguirre told the McMasters 

there was an immediate opening for their daughter.     

 Mr. McMaster sent an e-mail to Kelly Lister, who was the 

regional director for Phoenix.  The message expressed the 

following complaint:   

“When my wife arrived for her appointment 

she got a very cursory tour of the facility 

and felt that Jennifer was only doing it 

because she felt she had to, not out of any 

genuine interest.  Jennifer was asked if 

they taught any Spanish to the child as 

other schools have this as a part of their 
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curriculum.  She was told no they do not 

teach Spanish.  My wife‟s response was „Oh 

that‟s too bad because my daughter speaks 

Spanish at home with us.‟  Jennifer‟s 

response was „Well, all of the instruction 

is in English, so you should really think 

about whether she should be in this School.‟  

This was delivered in [a] manner my wife 

understood as seriously trying to discourage 

her from enrolling our daughter . . . .  My 

wife asked if they had any spots available 

and was told „No, but you can get on the 

waiting list.‟  She did this . . . .  During 

her entire time with Jennifer she felt that 

Jennifer could not wait for her to leave and 

was only doing what she did out of some 

sense of obligation to her job.  Just going 

through the motions, if you will.   

This morning (08/02/2006) my wife and I met 

at the pre-school and received another tour 

and introduction . . . .  It was not with 

Jennifer.  When we arrived she remembered my 

wife and pulled out the „Tickler File‟ to 

find her information.  After looking through 

the file 3 times she could not find my 

wife‟s information and took us into the 

facility for a tour.  It was a very good 

introduction to the facility, in fact, I 

liked it very much.  During the tour it was 

mentioned that Spanish was taught at the 

school and our daughter would move from the 

„ladybugs‟ into the 3 year old class most 

likely in February.  I found [Aguirre] to be 

very informative, interested in the children 

and excited about the place she worked.  As 

the tour was concluding, I asked if they had 

any availability and she said, „Yes, we have 

3 or 4 spots right now and it is probably 

best if you get her in before September, as 

it tends to fill up quickly around that 

time.‟ . . . As we left, my wife recounted 

with me once again what had happened on her 

tour with Jennifer. 

I went back in to the facility and 

confronted Jennifer and [Aguirre] about how 
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my wife felt she was treated.  She responded 

„Oh, I can‟t imagine why.‟  I asked her 

about availability and her response was to 

tell me that she put her on the waiting list 

and proceeded to show me the list . . . .  I 

said „[Aguirre] just told me there were 3 or 

4 spots available immediately.‟  She gave a 

blank look to [Aguirre] (who confirmed 

availability) and then she began the 

backpedaling about having two teachers 

transfer, the school year starting on 

8/26/06 and how she didn‟t like to start new 

families before the new school year ended.  

None of this made any sense to me in regard 

to how this would limit my daughter 

enrolling immediately . . . . 

Needless to say, we will not be enrolling 

our daughter in the Rocklin pre-school. 

I await your response and sincerely hope 

that you can use this as a growth 

opportunity for your company.  I have not 

decided if I feel further action is 

necessary on my part, it may be warranted as 

this type of behavior can not be allowed to 

continue.”   

 Lister forwarded the e-mail to Char Brohl, the senior vice 

president of Phoenix‟s parent company, Mini-Skools.  Brohl made 

the decision to suspend Scott the next day.  Scott was suspended 

for a day and a half, after which she took a pre-planned week of 

vacation.  During that week, the decision was made to terminate 

Scott because of poor job performance due to her failure to 

enroll the McMaster child.   

 The McMaster child was two years-old.  Out of nine total 

classrooms, the school had two classrooms for two to three year-

old children who were not yet potty trained.  The McMaster child 

would have gone into the Ladybugs classroom, which had only an 
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aide permanently assigned to the room, and no qualified teacher 

permanently assigned.  The Ladybugs classroom was short staffed, 

because two teachers left during the summer.   

 Phoenix employed full time, part time, and temporary 

teachers and aides.  The staff arrived at different times during 

the day, and the number of children attending changed from day 

to day.  No teacher worked the entire eleven and one half hours 

the school was open.  If a teacher stepped out of the room, it 

was necessary to get another teacher in to replace her.  The 

three administrative staffers at the school, including Scott, 

were also qualified teachers.  They filled in as needed, but 

they also had their administrative duties to perform.  Teachers 

from another room could be brought in as an emergency measure, 

but not as a permanent fix because they had their own classroom 

responsibilities.   

 Scott was an at will employee.  At the time of her 

termination she was 37 years old, had worked for Phoenix for 13 

years, and was earning approximately $42,000 per year.    

DISCUSSION 

I 

Discharge in Violation of Public Policy 

 Following the jury verdict in favor of Scott, Phoenix 

brought a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict and 

for a new trial, which were both denied by the trial court.  

Phoenix argues the trial court erred in denying the motion for 

judgment notwithstanding the verdict because there was no 
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substantial evidence Scott was terminated in violation of public 

policy.     

 We review the order denying the motion for judgment 

notwithstanding the verdict for substantial evidence.  (Sweatman 

v. Department of Veterans Affairs (2001) 25 Cal.4th 62, 68.)   

 An employment contract for an indefinite duration is 

normally terminable at the will of either party.  (Lab. Code, § 

2922; Tameny v. Atlantic Richfield Co. (1980) 27 Cal.3d 167, 172 

(Tameny).)  However, an employer may be liable in tort for 

discharging an employee for performing an act that public policy 

encourages, or refusing to perform an act that public policy 

would condemn.  (Gantt v. Sentry Insurance (1992) 1 Cal.4th 

1083, 1090, overruled on other grounds in Green v. Ralee 

Engineering Co. (1998) 19 Cal.4th 66, 80; Tameny, supra, at pp. 

174-177.)  A wrongful discharge in violation of public policy is 

commonly referred to as a “Tameny” claim.  Determining whether a 

claim involves a matter of public policy as opposed to an 

ordinary dispute between the employer and employee depends on 

whether the matter affects society at large, whether the policy 

is sufficiently clear, and whether it is fundamental, 

substantial, and well established at the time of the 

termination.  (Jie v. Liang Tai Knitwear Co. (2001) 89 

Cal.App.4th 654, 661.)   

 Violations of public policy generally fall into four 

categories:  (1) termination for refusing to violate a statute, 

(2) termination for performing a statutory obligation, (3) 

termination for exercising a statutory right or privilege, or 
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(4) termination for reporting an alleged violation of a statute 

of public importance.  (Gantt, supra, 1 Cal.4th at pp. 1090-

1091.)  Refusal to violate a governmental regulation may also be 

the basis for a tort cause of action where the administrative 

regulation enunciates a fundamental public policy and is 

authorized by statute.  (Green v. Ralee Engineering Co., supra, 

19 Cal.4th at pp. 79-80.)   

 In this case, Scott asserted she was terminated for 

refusing to violate California Code of Regulations, title 22, 

section 101216.3.  Subdivisions (a) and (b) of that section 

provide that there must be one teacher for every 12 children, 

but if the teacher is fully qualified, one teacher and one aide 

may supervise no more than 18 children.  Phoenix argues the 

verdict must be overturned because:  (1) no substantial evidence 

exists that enrolling the McMaster child would have violated the 

regulation, (2) no substantial evidence exists that Scott 

notified Phoenix that enrolling the McMaster child would have 

violated the regulation, and (3) the regulation does not reflect 

a fundamental or important public policy.   

 A. Substantial Evidence of Violation of Regulation 

 In DeSoto v. Yellow Freight Systems, Inc. (9th Cir. 1992) 

957 F.2d 655, 658-659, the Ninth Circuit held that no public 

policy violation occurs where the employee‟s belief that the 

employer‟s directive would result in a violation of law is 

mistaken.  Thus, Phoenix argues there was insufficient evidence 

that the enrollment of the McMaster child would have actually 

resulted in a violation of the regulation governing teacher-
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child ratios.  Assuming, without deciding, that there is no 

public policy violation if the employee merely believes that 

what she is being asked to do violates the law, we nevertheless 

shall conclude there was sufficient evidence of violation of the 

regulation. 

 Phoenix argues the evidence showed that Scott‟s 

unwillingness to enroll the McMaster child arose from a personal 

preference to wait until a permanent teacher was assigned to the 

classroom for McMaster‟s age group, and not because the 

enrollment of the child would have violated the regulation.  In 

support of this argument, Phoenix points to Scott‟s testimony 

that she explained to Lister in reference to the McMaster e-

mail, that she did not have the steady staff in the two year-old 

classroom, and that she would prefer not to enroll children when 

part of the enrollment process is introducing the teacher.  

Phoenix argues that Scott continued to staff the Ladybugs 

classroom after the two teachers left by rotating unassigned 

teachers and an aid into the classroom, and there was no 

evidence that enrolling the McMaster child in and of itself 

would have violated the law. 

 In reviewing whether there was substantial evidence to show 

the enrollment of the McMaster child would have violated the 

teacher-student ratios, we resolve all conflicts and indulge all 

legitimate and reasonable inferences in favor of the verdict.  

(Western States Petroleum Assn. v. Superior Court (1995) 9 

Cal.4th 559, 571.)  If there is substantial evidence from which 

more than one reasonable inference may be drawn, we are without 
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power to substitute our deductions for those of the trier of 

fact.  (Von Belz v. Stuntman, Inc. (1989) 207 Cal.App.3d 1467, 

1481.)  In such case the verdict must be upheld even though the 

evidence is subject to more than one reasonable interpretation.   

 The Ladybugs class roster as of the date Mrs. McMaster and 

her child visited school showed 20 students were enrolled in the 

classroom, although not every child attended every day.  Two 

days out of the week, 20 children were scheduled to attend.  Two 

days out of the week, 18 were scheduled to attend.  One day out 

of the week, 17 were scheduled to attend.  Two of the 20 

children in the classroom were transferring out of the class in 

August, and one child was scheduled to start the class in 

September.  On the days the class had 20 children, two qualified 

teachers would have been required.  On the days 17 or 18 

children were present, one teacher and one aide would have been 

sufficient, although the addition of one more child on the two 

days the class had 18 children attending would have required an 

additional qualified teacher. 

 The McMasters were looking to enroll their child two or 

three mornings per week.  Thus, if the McMasters were not 

particular about which day of the week their daughter attended, 

they could have been enrolled on the day of the week the 

Ladybugs class had 17 children, as well as the days the Ladybugs 

class had 20 children, because 20 children would have required 

two qualified teachers, in which case the two teachers could 

have handled 21 children as well as 20 children.  If, however, 

the McMasters wanted to enroll their daughter on the days of the 
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week that the classroom had 18 children, and only one qualified 

teacher and one aide were available to staff those days, the 

attendance of the McMasters child would have violated the 

staffing ratios.  No evidence was presented as to which days the 

McMasters were interested in enrolling their child. 

 It is unclear precisely what teachers or aides were 

available to staff the Ladybugs classroom.   There was evidence 

that the Ladybugs classroom had lost its two teachers, and that 

no replacement had been hired.  Wendy Terry had been assigned to 

that class, but she was not a qualified teacher.  The three 

administrative workers were qualified teachers and were 

available to fill in, but they still had their administrative 

jobs to perform, and they had to help out in other classrooms as 

well.  Parveen Kajani was also a qualified teacher available to 

the Ladybugs classroom, but her schedule was sporadic because 

she was having family problems.   

 Further complicating matters was the fact that a few of the 

teachers were only there for the summer, and would be leaving 

near the end of August.  Two teachers would be returning from 

leave, but their return dates were not set.   

 Plaintiff also offered more general evidence regarding the 

shortage of staff during the summer of 2006.  Scott testified 

that various rooms were frequently out of compliance with 

staffing ratios during July 2006.  Wendy Terry testified she 

felt the class was understaffed, and that there was not enough 

help in the classroom.  She testified she was left alone in the 

classroom, even though she was not a qualified teacher.  She 
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testified the classroom violated the staffing ratios.  Jessica 

Stribick testified that after the two teachers left the Ladybugs 

classroom, there were not enough teachers.  There were two 

teachers in the classroom, but never the same ones, and the 

school had to pull teachers out of other classes and other 

schools.  Suzie Aguirre also testified that the loss of the two 

Ladybugs teachers created staffing problems.  She stated there 

were times when the class was out of compliance with staffing 

ratios.   

 Taken together this evidence indicates the school, and in 

particular the Ladybugs classroom, had a shortage of teachers, 

and that the only staff available to relieve this shortage was 

short-term and transitory.  Because of the fluid nature of 

staffing at the school, it is difficult to determine whether the 

addition of one more student would have made it impossible to 

adequately staff the class, but given the fact the class was 

already operating at times in violation of the staffing ratios, 

and that the school was short-staffed, the jury‟s conclusion 

that the addition of one more child would have caused the 

classroom to operate out of compliance was a reasonable 

inference.  That is sufficient to sustain the verdict.   

 B. Substantial Evidence Phoenix Knew of Violation 

 Phoenix argues it was necessary for Scott to present 

evidence she disclosed to Phoenix that enrolling the McMaster 

child would result in a regulatory violation.  Scott replies 

that only in a whistleblower case is it necessary for the 

employee to disclose to the employer the employer‟s violation of 
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the law.  We decline to resolve this issue because we conclude 

there was substantial evidence from which the jury could 

reasonably infer that Scott did disclose the violation to 

Phoenix.  

 Scott testified that she told her superior, Lister, on a 

daily basis that she needed more teachers.  She also stated that 

the staffing problem should have been obvious because she lost 

two teachers out of the Ladybugs class and had not been able to 

hire a replacement.  Before Brohl made the decision to terminate 

Scott, she reviewed a written statement Scott prepared 

explaining the McMaster child was not enrolled because the 

Ladybugs room was short-staffed.  Brohl acknowledged that 

Scott‟s reason for not enrolling the McMaster child was 

inadequate staffing, but maintained Scott never specifically 

claimed there were not enough teachers to comply with the 

student teacher ratio.   

 Both Lister and Brohl demonstrated knowledge of the 

staffing requirements dictated by state regulation.  Brohl had 

worked in child care for approximately 11 years before she went 

to work for Phoenix in 2002.  Her testimony exhibited a 

knowledge of the staffing requirements dictated by state 

regulation.   

 Lister had been employed by Phoenix for 10 years.  Prior to 

that she was a teacher, then a director at another preschool.  

Lister‟s testimony demonstrated she was well-versed in the 

regulatory staffing requirements. 
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 The jury could have reasonably inferred that when Scott 

told her superiors the school was short-staffed, and that she 

did not enroll the McMaster child for that reason, she was in 

fact indicating there were not enough teachers and/or aides to 

maintain regulatory staffing ratios.   

 C. Substantial and Fundamental Policy 

 Phoenix argues the judgment should be reversed because the 

teacher-student ratios set forth in the administrative 

regulations do not embody a substantial and fundamental public 

policy.  In support of this position, Phoenix points to the fact 

that the teacher-student ratio is different during nap periods, 

when the ratio is one teacher or one aide for every 24 children.  

(Cal. Code Regs., tit. 22, § 101216.3, subd. (f).)  Phoenix also 

stresses that because the regulations are based on the number of 

children attending, rather than the number enrolled, an employer 

would not have notice that termination of an employee for 

refusing to enroll a child without reference to an attendance 

date would give rise to tort liability.   

 In this context, courts have treated the concepts of 

“substantial” and “fundamental” as a single requirement.  

(Stevenson v. Superior Court (1997) 16 Cal.4th 880, 890, fn. 4.)  

In Gantt v. Sentry Insurance, supra, 1 Cal.4th 1083, the Supreme 

Court explained the rationale for requiring a terminated 

employee to show violation of a substantial and fundamental 

public policy before recovering in tort.   

“[D]espite its broad acceptance, the 

principle underlying the public policy 
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exception is more easily stated than 

applied.  The difficulty, of course, lies in 

determining where and how to draw the line 

between claims that genuinely involve 

matters of public policy, and those that 

concern merely ordinary disputes between 

employer and employee.  This determination 

depends in large part on whether the public 

policy alleged is sufficiently clear to 

provide the basis for such a potent remedy.  

In Foley v. Interactive Data Corp., supra, 

47 Cal.3d 654, we endeavored to provide some 

guidelines by noting that the policy in 

question must involve a matter that affects 

society at large rather than a purely 

personal or proprietary interest of the 

plaintiff or employer; in addition, the 

policy must be „fundamental,‟ „substantial‟ 

and „well established‟ at the time of the 

discharge. (Id. at pp. 669-670.)”  (Id. at 

p. 1090.)  

  “[T]he primary rationale for requiring that a public policy 

be substantial and fundamental is „to ensure that employers have 

adequate notice of the conduct that will subject them to tort 

liability to the employees they discharge.‟  [Citations.]  A 

corollary of the substantial and fundamental requirement, then, 

is that a „“constitutional or statutory provision must 

sufficiently describe the type of prohibited conduct to enable 

an employer to know the fundamental public policies that are 

expressed in that law.”‟ [Citations.]”  (Sullivan v. Delta Air 

Lines, Inc. (1997) 58 Cal.App.4th 938, 943.) 

 The regulations governing teacher-student ratios are 

statutorily authorized by the California Child Day Care Act.  

(Health & Saf. Code, § 1596.81.)  One of the express purposes of 

the act is a recognition that “affordable, quality licensed 

child care is critical to the well-being of parents and children 
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in this state.”  (Health & Saf. Code, § 1596.73, subd (e).)  The 

Legislature also found that it was the intent of the Act to 

ensure a quality day care environment to “contribute positively 

to a child‟s emotional, cognitive, and educational 

development[,]” and that “good quality child day care services 

are an essential service for working parents.”  (Health & Saf. 

Code, § 1596.72.)  Manifestly, the purpose of the teacher-

student ratios is to protect the safety and ensure the 

educational development of the children by ensuring they are 

adequately supervised. 

 The public policy embodied by the regulation at issue here 

is no less substantial and fundamental than other public 

policies courts have found sufficient to subject an employer to 

tort liability.  In Hentzel v. Singer Co. (1982) 138 Cal.App.3d 

290, 297, the court recognized the Tameny claim of an employee 

who was terminated after complaining about other employees who 

were smoking in the workplace.  The court found the safety of 

employees in the workplace was a fundamental and substantial 

public purpose.  (Ibid.)  The safety of children while in day 

care is no less fundamental and substantial. 

 Also in Eisenberg v. Insurance Co. of North America (1987) 

815 F.2d 1285, the Ninth Circuit, applying California law, held 

that an employee who was terminated in retaliation for 

complaints that the company required its employees to manage too 

many claims had sufficiently stated a Tameny claim.  The company 

required employees to handle as many as 800 claims, when the 

California Department of Insurance guidelines set a maximum 
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caseload of 250 claims.  (Id. at p. 1289.)  The court held the 

public policy--to ensure that each insurance claim receives 

adequate consideration--was significant.  (Id. at pp. 1289-

1290.)  The public policy of protecting children in this case is 

equally significant. 

 The regulation regarding teacher-student ratios has been in 

effect for over 20 years, since 1985.  (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 

22, § 101316.5, Register 85, No. 27 (July 6, 1985) p. 3111.)2  

The ratios are clearly set forth, and the record indicates that 

the administrators of Phoenix were well aware of the ratios.  

Thus Phoenix had adequate notice of their obligations to 

properly staff the classrooms.   

 We find no merit to Phoenix‟s arguments that the policies 

were not fundamental because the staffing ratios changed 

depending on the children‟s activities, and because the 

regulations are tied to attendance rather than enrollment.  The 

fact that fewer teachers were needed during nap time did not 

absolve Phoenix from adequately staffing the classrooms the 

remainder of the school day.   

 Phoenix argues it had no notice that enrolling too many 

children could lead to liability because the regulation is tied 

                     

2    The amendment allowing an aide who meets certain 

qualifications to increase the number of children a teacher and 

qualified aide can handle from 15 to 18 was added in 1994.  

(Cal. Code Regs., tit. 22, § 101316.5, Register 94, No. 34 

(1994).)   
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to attendance rather than enrollment.3  However, we assume that 

parents do not enroll their children unless they plan for the 

children to attend.  Scott and Phoenix could legitimately assume 

that if the McMasters enrolled their daughter, they intended for 

her to attend.  In this context, if the school forced its 

employees to enroll more children than the school could 

legitimately accept because of staffing requirements, that may 

be seen as requiring the employees to violate the regulation.    

 We conclude the public policy embodied in the regulation at 

issue was substantial and fundamental. 

II 

Punitive Damages 

 Phoenix argues there was insufficient evidence of malice, 

fraud or oppression to support the award of punitive damages.  

We agree. 

 Civil Code section 3294 provides that punitive damages may 

be awarded in an action for breach of an obligation not arising 

from contract, if the plaintiff proves by clear and convincing 

                     

3    Phoenix likewise argues enrolling the McMaster child would 

not have violated the staffing regulations because the ratios 

are based on attendance rather than enrollment.  Thus, they 

argue, Scott could have enrolled the McMaster child, and not 

permitted her to attend.  We reject this argument for the same 

reason we reject the argument that Phoenix had no notice that 

over-enrollment could lead to a violation of public policy.  We 

assume that children are enrolled in the school for the purpose 

of attending class.  Even though attendance on any given day may 

vary due to illness, vacation, and the like, the school must be 

prepared to staff its classrooms for the contingency that the 

students who are enrolled will be attending.   
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evidence that the defendant has been guilty of oppression, 

fraud, or malice.  Here, the parties stipulated that the 

punitive damage instructions would contain no instruction as to 

fraud.  Thus, the only issue is whether there was clear and 

convincing evidence that Phoenix was guilty of oppression or 

malice.   

 The clear and convincing standard “„requires a finding of 

high probability. . . . “„so clear as to leave no substantial 

doubt‟; „sufficiently strong to command the unhesitating assent 

of every reasonable mind.‟” [Citation.]‟ [Citations.]”  (Lackner 

v. North (2006) 135 Cal.App.4th 1188, 1211-1212.) 

 Malice is “conduct which is intended by the defendant to 

cause injury to the plaintiff or despicable conduct which is 

carried on by the defendant with a willful and conscious 

disregard of the rights or safety of others.”  (Civ. Code,  

§ 3294, subd. (c)(1).)  Oppression is “despicable conduct that 

subjects a person to cruel and unjust hardship in conscious 

disregard of that person's rights.”  (Civ. Code, § 3294, subd. 

(c)(2).)   

 Despicable conduct is conduct that is “„“. . . so vile, 

base, contemptible, miserable, wretched or loathsome that it 

would be looked down upon and despised by ordinary decent 

people.”‟  [Citation.]  „Such conduct has been described as 

“[having] the character of outrage frequently associated with 

crime.”  [Citation.]  As well stated in Flyer's Body Shop Profit 

Sharing Plan v. Ticor Title Ins. Co. (1986) 185 Cal.App.3d 1149, 

1154 [230 Cal.Rptr. 276]: “[A] breach of a fiduciary duty alone 
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without malice, fraud or oppression does not permit an award of 

punitive damages.  [Citation.] . . . Punitive damages are 

appropriate if the defendant's acts are reprehensible, 

fraudulent or in blatant violation of law or policy.  The mere 

carelessness or ignorance of the defendant does not justify the 

imposition of punitive damages. . . . Punitive damages are 

proper only when the tortious conduct rises to levels of extreme 

indifference to the plaintiff's rights, a level which decent 

citizens should not have to tolerate.”‟  [Citation.]”  (American 

Airlines, Inc. v. Sheppard, Mullin, Richter & Hampton (2002) 96 

Cal.App.4th 1017, 1050-1051.)  

 Thus, in order to sustain the punitive damages award, the 

evidence must leave no substantial doubt that Phoenix engaged in 

despicable conduct, or conduct intended to cause injury to 

Scott.  “„Something more than the mere commission of a tort is 

always required for punitive damages.  There must be 

circumstances of aggravation or outrage, such as spite or 

“malice,” or a fraudulent or evil motive on the part of the 

defendant, or such a conscious and deliberate disregard of the 

interests of others that his conduct may be called wilful or 

wanton.‟  [Citation.]”  (Taylor v. Superior Court (1979) 24 

Cal.3d 890, 894-895, italics omitted.)   

 The only evidence of wrongful conduct directed toward Scott 

was her termination for an improper reason.  This evidence was 

insufficient to support a finding of despicable conduct, because 

such action is not vile, base or contemptible.  Nor do we find 

this evidence shows a conscious and deliberate disregard of 
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plaintiff‟s interests.  “Conscious disregard of rights is 

conduct by a defendant who is aware of the probable dangerous 

consequences of such conduct to plaintiff's interests and 

wilfully and deliberately fails to avoid those consequences.”  

(Smith v. Brown-Forman Distillers Corp. (1987) 196 Cal.App.3d 

503, 516.)    

 In Smith v. Brown-Forman Distillers, supra, the employer 

required the employee to commit a crime as a condition of 

employment.  (196 Cal.App.3d at p. 509.)  The employee was 

informed he could be terminated if he failed to perform the 

tasks, but that if he were caught performing illegal activities, 

he could also be terminated.  (Id. at p. 512.)  The court found 

there was sufficient evidence of conscious disregard of rights 

because the employer “knowingly placed its employees in a 

situation where they would engage in illegal activities because 

it wanted to obtain the competitive benefits of such illegal 

conduct, yet at the same time by paying lip service to a 

contrary policy, it could disavow any responsibility for such 

illegal conduct.”  (Id. at p. 516.)  By this action, the 

employer protected itself at the expense of its employees, which 

the jury could reasonably conclude was a conscious disregard of 

employee rights.  (Ibid.)    

 In this case, Scott was not subject to any personal 

liability by violating the regulation.  Violation of the 

regulation would result in a monetary penalty imposed against 

the child care center, not against Scott.  (Cal. Code Regs., 

tit. 22, § 101195, subds. (a) (d) & (e).)  Thus, Scott‟s rights 
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were not endangered by the school‟s non-compliance with the 

regulation. 

 In Cloud v. Casey (1999) 76 Cal.App.4th 895, a female 

employee was passed over for promotion because of her gender.  

The court held the employer was liable for punitive damages 

because it denied the plaintiff a promotion based on gender, 

then attempted to hide the illegal reason for denying the 

promotion with a false explanation, and that it was this 

fabrication that constituted the despicable conduct.  (Id. at p. 

912.)   

 In Stevens v. Coldwell Banker Commercial Group, Inc. (1988) 

199 Cal.App.3d 1394, an age discrimination case, the 63 year-old 

plaintiff was demoted, and when his supervisor discovered he had 

no plans to retire, the supervisor “engaged in a program of 

unwarranted criticism of plaintiff's job performance to justify 

plaintiff's demotion.”  (Id. at pp. 1398, 1403, disapproved on 

another ground in White v. Ultramar, Inc. (1999) 21 Cal.4th 563, 

574, fn. 4.)  The court found the unwarranted criticism to be 

oppressive behavior because it had no factual justification, 

damaged the plaintiff‟s reputation, and subjected the plaintiff 

to embarrassment.  (Id. at pp. 1403-1404.)   

 Based upon the foregoing cases, we conclude that wrongful 

termination, without more, will not sustain a finding of malice 

or oppression.  There was no evidence Phoenix attempted to hide 

the reason it terminated Scott.  It admitted to terminating her 

because she would not enroll the McMaster child.  Likewise, 

there was no evidence Phoenix engaged in a program of 
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unwarranted criticism to justify her termination.  Because there 

was nothing more than a wrongful termination here, punitive 

damages were not warranted, and the trial court should have 

granted defendant‟s motion for judgment notwithstanding the 

verdict on the issue of punitive damages.4   

III 

New Trial Motion 

 Phoenix argues the trial court should have granted its 

motion for new trial because of two prejudicial evidentiary 

rulings, which it claims compromised the fairness of the trial.  

These were:  the introduction of evidence of the inadequacy of 

Phoenix‟s investigation into the McMaster incident, and the 

exclusion of evidence of McMaster‟s complaint of discrimination.  

We review these evidentiary rulings for abuse of discretion.  

(People ex rel. Lockyer v. Sun Pacific Farming Co. (2000) 77 

Cal.App.4th 619, 639.)   

 A.  Evidence of Phoenix’s Investigation 

 Phoenix argues the trial court allowed Scott to question 

witnesses about whether an adequate investigation of her job 

performance was conducted prior to the decision to discharge 

her.  It argues this raised irrelevant issues relating to the 

reasonableness and fairness of Phoenix‟s decision, when this was 

                     

4    Because we have determined Scott was not entitled to 

punitive damages, we need not consider Phoenix‟s arguments that 

the punitive damages awarded were excessive. 
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not at issue in the termination of an at-will employee.   We 

conclude the issue was relevant, therefore admissible. 

 All relevant evidence is admissible unless excluded by 

statute or by the state or federal Constitution.  (People v. 

Harris (2005) 37 Cal.4th 310, 337.)  Evidence is relevant if it 

tends “„“logically, naturally, and by reasonable inference” to 

establish material facts such as identity, intent, or motive.‟”  

(Ibid.)  In this case Scott had the burden of proving a nexus 

between her termination, and her refusal to violate the 

regulation governing student-teacher ratios.  (Turner v. 

Anheuser-Busch, Inc. (1994) 7 Cal.4th 1238, 1258-1259.)  In 

other words, it was incumbent on her to prove her refusal to 

violate the regulation was a motivating or substantial factor in 

the decision to terminate her.  (Grant-Burton v. Covenant Care, 

Inc. (2002) 99 Cal.App.4th 1361, 1379.)     

 Phoenix presented evidence that Scott was terminated 

because of her refusal to enroll the McMaster child, because she 

had not followed company procedures during the McMaster visit, 

and because Phoenix‟s president had visited the Rocklin campus a 

few days before the McMaster incident and decided Scott lacked 

drive and enthusiasm.  It was company policy to give prospective 

parents a tour of the entire school, to have them fill out an 

inquiry card, to ask for enrollment, and to offer a trial day, 

but Scott did none of these things for the McMasters.  Brohl 

testified that it was clear from the e-mail that Scott had 

caused the McMasters to feel unwelcome, implying this was reason 

enough to fire the director of the school. 
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 Scott‟s counsel asked a series of questions regarding who 

had contacted Mr. McMaster after his email, and questioned why 

there had not been more follow-up with McMaster directly.  He 

also questioned why there was not any investigation into how 

Scott had historically performed at Phoenix.    

 This line of questioning was relevant to show that Scott‟s 

refusal to violate the staffing regulation by enrolling the 

McMaster child was the motivating factor in the decision to 

terminate her.  If the motivating reason had been merely Scott‟s 

ill treatment of the McMasters, it would have been reasonable 

for Phoenix to talk to McMaster to determine whether his 

criticism of Scott was fair and rational.  Likewise, if the 

motivating factor had been Scott‟s perceived lack of enthusiasm 

and drive, it would have been reasonable to look at her past 

performance.  By showing that no such investigation was done, 

Scott offered evidence from which the jury could infer that the 

motivating factor behind her termination was not her ill 

treatment of the McMasters or her lack of drive, but the fact 

that she refused to enroll their child in violation of the 

staffing regulations.  The trial court did not abuse its 

discretion in allowing this line of questioning. 

 B. Evidence of Discrimination Charge 

 Phoenix argues the trial court incorrectly granted Scott‟s 

in limine motion to exclude evidence that Mr. McMaster accused 

Scott of discriminating against his wife.  It argues the 

exclusion of this evidence made Mr. McMaster‟s e-mail appear 

petty, and Phoenix‟s reliance on it irrational.   
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 The unredacted version of the e-mail Mr. McMaster sent to 

Phoenix stated that his wife was born in Latin America, and that 

she “felt very discriminated against by Jennifer [Scott]” when 

she first visited the school.  Mr. McMaster further stated that 

after visiting the school, “I am convinced that my wife was 

discriminated against and cannot put into words how upset I am.”  

Mr. McMaster, who was not from Latin America, stated that in 

their seven years of marriage, his wife had never before told 

him she felt discriminated against.   

 Scott moved in limine to exclude evidence of McMaster‟s 

claims of racial discrimination on the grounds the evidence was 

irrelevant and prejudicial.  Plaintiff argued Phoenix had not 

contended that the allegation of discrimination played any role 

in the decision to terminate her, and that neither party was 

claiming discrimination was a factor.  In opposition to the in 

limine motion, Phoenix stated it was prepared to offer testimony 

that it had not reached a conclusion as to whether it believed 

Scott discriminated against the McMasters.    

 After the jury reached its verdict, Phoenix made a motion 

for new trial, in part on the ground that the court had wrongly 

excluded all references to Mr. McMaster‟s claim of 

discrimination against Scott.  In denying the motion, the trial 

court said, “it was conceded at the outset of the trial that 

racial discrimination was not an element that in [any] way 

contributed to her [Scott‟s] termination, and so therefore, it 

simply was not relevant.”   
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 Evidence that is not relevant is not admissible.  (Evid. 

Code, § 350.)  Phoenix conceded it had not reached a conclusion 

as to whether it believed Scott had discriminated against the 

McMasters, therefore it could not have terminated her because of 

discrimination.  The issue at trial was whether Phoenix 

terminated Scott for a reason that violated public policy.  

Because Phoenix did not terminate Scott because it believed she 

discriminated against the McMasters, the evidence of 

discrimination was not relevant.   

 Phoenix‟s reliance on Smalley v. Baty (2005) 128 

Cal.App.4th 977, 984, is misplaced.  Phoenix cites Smalley in 

support of its argument that this court has disapproved of a 

“one-sided” presentation of evidence.  In that case, we held 

that evidence a plaintiff had paid his own medical expenses was 

“manifestly relevant to his claim for damages[,]” because 

evidence that a bill was paid is evidence the charge was 

reasonable, and there is no better proof that a bill was paid 

than evidence that the plaintiff paid them.  We further held the 

trial court‟s finding that the evidence was prejudicial was 

“untenable[,]” and that the exclusion of the evidence was 

“unsupported by any cogent reasoning or authority.”  (Id. at pp. 

984-986, fn. omitted.)   

 This case differs because the evidence the trial court 

excluded was not at all relevant to the issue of whether Phoenix 

terminated Scott because of her refusal to violate the state‟s 

staffing ratio regulations.  Phoenix never claimed to have 

terminated Scott because she had discriminated against the 
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McMasters, or because it believed she had discriminated against 

the McMasters.  Evidence that is not relevant is not admissible, 

thus the trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding 

evidence of the charge of discrimination.   

IV 

Motion to Strike Damage Award 

 Phoenix‟s motion for new trial following the verdict 

included a request that the award of damages be stricken and a 

new trial ordered.  The trial court denied the motion.   

 Phoenix complains that portions of the damage award were 

unsupported by the evidence and were excessive.  It makes this 

claim with regard to the jury award of $500,000 for noneconomic 

damages and the portion of the economic damage award 

representing future economic damages.   

 A. Noneconomic Damages 

 As to the noneconomic damages, Phoenix asserts there was no 

evidence of harassment or physical pain or suffering, and no 

evidence Scott required medical or professional attention or 

suffered any loss of reputation.  Phoenix cites Mokler v. County 

of Orange (2007) 157 Cal.App.4th 121, 132, in which the court 

affirmed the trial court‟s order of a new trial on noneconomic 

damages because the employee had not experienced physical pain 

or suffering, had not required medical or professional 

attention, and had suffered no loss of reputation.  (Id. at p. 

147.)   

 This case is presented in a critically different posture 

because the trial court denied Phoenix‟s motion for new trial on 
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the ground the noneconomic damages were excessive and 

unsupported by sufficient evidence.  As Mokler recognized, 

“„[t]he determination of a motion for a new trial rests so 

completely within the [trial] court's discretion that its action 

will not be disturbed unless a manifest and unmistakable abuse 

of discretion clearly appears.‟  (Jiminez v. Sears, Roebuck & 

Co. (1971) 4 Cal.3d 379, 387 [93 Cal.Rptr. 769, 482 P.2d 681].)”  

(Mokler, supra, 157 Cal.App.4th at p. 146.) 

 The standard of proof to support an award of noneconomic 

damages is “„some guarantee of genuineness in the circumstances 

of the case.  [Citation.]‟”  (Molien v. Kaiser Foundation 

Hospitals (1980) 27 Cal.3d 916, 930.)  In applying this 

standard, the Supreme Court has instructed that “the jurors are 

best situated to determine whether and to what extent the 

defendant's conduct caused emotional distress, by referring to 

their own experience.”  (Ibid.)  To recover for noneconomic 

damages, there must be evidence the injury suffered was 

“substantial or enduring as distinguished from trivial or 

transitory.”  (Young v. Bank of America (1983) 141 Cal.App.3d 

108, 114.)   

 Scott‟s husband presented evidence in this case that Scott 

had been depressed every day from the day she was suspended 

until the trial, a period of some 16 months.  Her depression was 

manifested in her attitude, her confidence, and her diminished 

ability to cope.  The jury was in the best position to determine 

whether being wrongfully terminated from her job would have 

resulted in a substantial, as opposed to a trivial injury, and 
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the length of Scott‟s suffering supports a finding that the 

injury was not transitory.  The evidence presented was 

sufficient to sustain an award of noneconomic damages. 

 B. Future Economic Damages 

 Phoenix argues the award of future earnings from age 37 to 

retirement was speculative and unsupported by the evidence 

because Scott was an at-will employee.  Phoenix further argues 

the jury unfairly over-compensated Scott for loss of tuition 

benefits.  As a school director at Phoenix, Scott received free 

tuition for her four children.  Phoenix argues Scott‟s expert 

unfairly calculated her future earnings on a part-time basis, 

when she should have been able to work full-time if she received 

as a component of her damages private school tuition for her 

children through the eighth grade.5  Finally, Phoenix argues the 

damage calculation accepted by the jury failed to account for 

Scott‟s expected earnings from obtaining her real estate license 

and work as a mortgage broker.   

 Scott‟s expert calculated her past and future economic 

damages to the age of 65 to be $691,629.  This amount was 

comprised of $414,212 for lost compensation and $277,417 for 

                     

5    The expert testified Scott was working 1500 hours per year 

at $11.00 per hour.  He testified he calculated her earnings 

would go up when her youngest children reached high school 

because she could “expand her job opportunities” enabling her to 

earn more money.  He testified she was able to work for Phoenix 

and still meet her “domestic responsibilities,” and that she 

would work the amount of time she could and still meet those 

responsibilities.   
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lost tuition benefits for Scott‟s four children.  The jury 

awarded Scott $102,240 for past economic loss, and $506,007 for 

future economic loss.  These amounts included both lost earnings 

and lost benefits.  The difference between the jury award and 

the expert calculation is $83,382.   

 Assuming Phoenix is correct in claiming that the evidence 

was merely speculative that Scott would have worked for Phoenix 

until retirement age, and that because she was credited with 

lost tuition benefits, she had a duty to mitigate her lost full-

time wages by securing other full-time employment, the jury 

verdict must still be upheld.   

 We must uphold a jury‟s award of damages if it is within 

the range of possibilities supported by any of the testimony.  

(Pellegrini v. Weiss (2008) 165 Cal.App.4th 515, 531-532.)  In 

this case, the expert‟s calculation of Scott‟s increase in 

damages due to lost wages for the last 10 years of the 

calculation (ages 56 to 65) amounted to $73,549.  Because the 

jury awarded Scott $83,382 less than the total amount the expert 

testified would compensate her for all of her loss, the jury may 

well have taken into account the possibility that she would not 

have worked for Phoenix until retirement, and that she should 

have worked full-time, since her children‟s daycare costs were 

included in the award.   

 As to Scott‟s real estate license and work as a loan 

consultant, we agree with the trial court that she could not 

rely on these careers “given the exigencies of the real estate 

market and mortgage bank industry . . . .”  Furthermore, there 
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was no evidence presented of any income she earned in these 

capacities.  Given the absence of any evidence Scott was likely 

to derive any income from real estate, there was nothing to 

support the jury‟s inclusion of income from this source in its 

calculations.   

DISPOSITION 

 The award of punitive damages is reversed.  In all other 

respects the judgment is affirmed.  Appellant shall be awarded 

costs on appeal.  (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.278(a)(3).) 

 

            BLEASE       , Acting P. J. 

We concur: 

      SIMS              , J. 

 

      NICHOLSON         , J. 


